EE97092894

ILR Mitt. 318 (1997)

A REPRESENTATIVE CONCEPT OF AN INITIAL LUNAR BASE (Model 4.0 - May 1997)

Heinz Hermann Koelle





INSTITUT FÜR LUFT- UND RAUMFAHRT TECHNISCHE UNIVERSITÄT BERLIN



ILR Mitt. 318 (1997) 1 May ,1997

.

.

.

.

٠.

A REPRESENTATIVE CONCEPT OF AN INITIAL LUNAR BASE (Model 4.0- May 1997)

H.H.Koelle

Technische Universität Berlin Institut für Luft- und Raumfahrt D=10587 Berlin, Marchstr.14

Abstract

The proposal of returning to the Moon to stay was made by President Bush in July 1989, but the changes in the geopolitical environment since the end of the cold war have prevented a serious discussion of this proposal until now. It is expected, however, that this question of a permanent research facility on the Moon will come up again early in the next decade. Thus concepts and plans have to be ready by that time to be discussed and evaluated. This report is an updated version of an earlier study by the same author entitled:"The Lunar Laboratory"18. It describes in detail a Lunar Base that is supposed to grow from about 40 to 120 people in 30 years. Some 1,200 metric tons of facilities and equipment are needed on the Moon. Average crew duty cycles are assumed to be six months. A lunar space transportation system comprised of a heavy lift launch vehicle, a lunar ferry vehicle and a space operations center in lunar orbit is proposed. The systems behaviour, the dynamics of selected parameters and the overall performance and cost-effectiveness of the lunar laboratory are analysed and presented. It is shown that the average annual cost of a lunar man-year is expected to be approximately 42 million (1994) dollars and that the average annual operations cost of this lunar base including a 10 year development phase may be less than 3 billion \$. The results are summarized in 28 tables, 17 figures, 20 references comprising 51 pp.

Table of Contents

Abstract	page
List of tables and figures	
Excecutive Summary	1
1. Introduction	7
2. Program Structure	10
3. Lunar Base size and performance	12
3.1 Sizing of the lunar base facilities	12
3.2 Acquisition and operating costs of lunar facilities	17
3.3 Specific costs of lunar products and services	20
4. Lunar Space Transportation System	24
4.1 System definition	24
4.2 The heavy lift launch vehicle (HLLV)	24
4.3 The lunar orbit service center (LUO-SOC)	27
4.4 The lunar launch- and landing vehicle (LUBUS)	29
4.5 Space Transportation System performance	31
4.6 Acquisition and operating cost of space transportation system	33
5. The Acquisition of the Lunar Base	39
6. Cost Summary and System Effectiveness	43
6.1 Cost summary	43
6.2 Cost-effectiveness	47
7. Study Results and Conclusions	49
References -	5 1

List of Tables and Figures

Executive Summary:

Table ES-1: Overview of lunar base characteristics during a 30 year operational life-cycle

Table ES-2: Cost summary of a Lunar Base with a 10 year development phase and a 30 year operational life-cycle

Figure ES-1: Growth of lunar population and the specific cost per lunar labor-year Table ES-3: Lunar Base System Development Cost at selected years during a 40 year life-cycle

Figure ES-2: Annual distribution of development cost of lunar facilities and the logistic system

Figure ES-3: Lunar Base system total cost trend with lunar facility costs and space transportation costs

<u>Chapter 1:</u>

Table 1-1: Objectives of a Lunar Base

Table 1-2: Services and pruducts of a Lunar Base

<u>Chapter 3:</u>

Figure 3-1: Layout of a typical lunar base

Figure 3-2: Mass flows, information flows, energy flows and human labor required at a typical lunar base

Table 3-1: Typical Growth of lunar population and facilities

Table 3-2: Projected average annual outputs of defined lunar base facilities

Table 3-3 : Projected imports required by the operational lunar base on the lunar surface as projected by the model

Figure 3-3 : Development trends of lunar products for lunar use and the mass of imports to the lunar surface

Table 3-4: Overview of preliminary estimates of the upfront costs of lunar facilities

Table 3-5: Summary of non-recurrent cost of lunar base

Table 3-6: Direct operating cost of lunar laboratory

Table 3-7: Specific direct costs of lunar products and services excluding logistic costs, financing and profit

Figure 3-4: Trends of specific cost of selected lunar products

Table 3-8: Projected total annual sales potential with total transportation cost charged to the lunar operator

Chapter 4:

Figure 4-1: Longitudinal cross section of the NEPTUNE heavy lift launch vehicle

Figure 4-2: Horizontal cross sections of the NEPTUNE heavy lift launch vehicle

Figure 4-3: Space operationscenter derived from the 2nd stage of the NEPTUNE

Figure 4-4: The lunar launch - and landing vehicle (LUBUS)

Table 4-1: Typical flight schedule for supporting the lunar base

Table 4-2: Operational performance of space vehicles

Table 4-3: Non-recurrent cost of space transportation system

Table 4-4: Overview of sustained engineering, production, operations

and total cost during the operational phase

Table 4-5: Overview of space vehicle direct operations cost of primary flights without Lulox cost and specific transportation costs of cargo and passenger transportation during the operational phase with Lulox cost

Figure 4-5: Mission cost for passengers without Lulox cost

Figure 4-6: Specific recurrent transportation cost for passengers and for cargo taking into account the cost of government furnished lunar propellants

Table 4-6 : Overview of total annual transportation system cost during the operational phase <u>Chapter 5:</u>

Table 5-1: Initial Lunar Base Program Development Schedule

Table 5-2: Detailed quarterly flightplan for the acquisition period

Table 5-3: Mass balances

Table 5-4: Typical manifest for HLLV and LUBUS flights Chapter 6:

Table 6-1 : Lunar Laboratory life-cycle cost summary with 10 + 30 year life-cycle Table 6-2 : Lunar Base system operational life-cycle cost trends

with up-front cost prorated over operational life-cycle

Figure 6-1 : Annual distribution of expenditures for development and testing of the elements (= non-recurring costs) comprising the lunar base project (space transportation system and lunar facilities)

Table 6-3: Annual total system/program cost

Figure 6-2: Lunar Laboratory Sytem total cost trend with development cost over operational life cycle

Figure 6-3: Growth of lunar facility mass and mass of lunar products per ton facility mass

Figure 6-4: Trend of specific cost of transportation of imports and production of lunar oxygen.

Table 6-4: Development trends of primary system-effectivness ratios

Table 6-5: Life-cycle performance and cost summary of a Lunar Base program -

EXECUTIVE SUMMERY:

A REPRESENTATIVE CONCEPT OF AN INITIAL LUNAR BASE (Model 4.0- July 1997) H.H.Koelle

Spaceflight is to be considered as a natural step of the evolution of the human species. Exploring space, using its resources, learning to live and work in space will improve the quality of life on Earth and also enhance the survival chances of humankind.

Roboters are extremly useful in many applications and are in operation for several decades in near Earth space as well as in interplanetary space. Some have even left the solar system. There is no question, that they will be used also heavily in the future. However, roboters have advantages and limitations, in selected applications they must be supplemented by human skills. For many decades in the past, Astronauts and Kosmonauts have demonstrated their usefulness in laboratories in orbits about the Earth and even began to explore the Moon. However, this is just the beginning of mastering a new dimension. It must and will go on, the question to answer is only when and how. Options have to be defined and be ready when the time comes to take new decisions^{3,5,7,9,11,12}.

After the expected completion of the International Space Station (ISS) in the year 2002 - or even before - the question will have to be answered: WHAT IS NEXT? It appears unlikely that the human exploration of space will come to an end, the evolution will not stop^{11,12}. A likely choice would be returning to the Moon and to establish an International Lunar Base (ILB) possibly followed by crewed expeditions to planet MARS:

In so doing, the following objectives would be -at least partially - achieved 9,16,17:

- 1. Provide a science laboratory in the unique environment of the Moon for experiments which can not be conducted on Earth.
- 2. Improve our knowledge of the Moon and its resources.
- 3. Stimulate the development of advanced technology on Earth.
- 4. Establish the first extraterrestrial human settlement as an initial step for expanding human activities in our solar system beyond our home planet.
- 5. Improve the understanding of our own planet.
- 6. Produce marketable services and products on the Moon for extraterrestrial or terrestrial use.
- 7. Demonstrate the potential growth beyond the Earth.
- 8. Enhance the evolution of the human culture into space.
- 9. Provide a survival shelter in case of global or cosmic catastrophes.
- 10. Provide reliable space transportation systems to the Moon.
- 11. Improve our understanding of our solar system.
- 12. Improve our understanding of the universe.

An adequate sized lunar base providing commercial opportunities, seems to be an attractive and affordable option for the first half of the 21st century. A detailed model of such a lunar base has the following characteristics.

year of operational life-cycle	number of total lunar crew members	total lunar facilities tons	total projected imports tons p.a.	total output of lunar facilities tons p.a.	total no. of lunar missions p.a.
1	40	361	73	335	10
3	43	459	97	514	7
6	44	488	97	568	4
10	56	580	114	666	
15	68	688	122	748	5
20	79	796	129	812	6
25	100	982	150	882	7
30	120	1,167	173	948	8
30 yr.total	2,170	1,167	3.813	21 900	180
average	72.3	700	127	730	5

Table ES-1: Overview of Lunar Base characteristics during a 30 year operational life-cycle

The cost of such an enterprise supported by public funds are summarized in the next table.

Table ES-2: Cost summary of a Lunar Base with a 10 year development phase and a 30 year operational life-cycle (million 1994 \$)

COST ELEMENT	Life cycle M\$	M \$ p.a.	% of LC total
Development & test of lunar facilities-10 year	11,200	1,120	12.3
Dev.& test of space transportation system-10year	28,587	2,859	31.4
Subtotal development & test - 10 year	39,787	3,979	43.7
Sustained engineering STS - 30 year	4,998	167	5.5
Production of space transportation system(STS)	17,130	571	18.8
Operation of space transportation system(STS)	17,595	587	19.3
Operation lunar facilities	11,640	388	12.8
Subtotal operations - 30 years operational LC	51,363	1.712	56.3
Total Lunar Laboratory System - 40 year life-cycle	91,150	2,280	100

A graphical presentation of the growth of the lunar crew and the improvement of the cost-effectiveness vs time shows the general trends to be expected.



Figure ES-1: Growth of lunar population and reduction of specific cost per lunar labor-year (M 1994 \$)

The non-recurrent overall system cost and their distribution over the development period (left side of table ES-3) is an important information because this near-term expenditure is a very critical parameter in any decision.

Table ES-3: Lunar Base system development and operating cost at selected years during the 40 year life-cycle (million 1994 with 1 direct human labor year = 0.2 M)

year	up-front cost lunar facilities	up-front cost space transpor- tation	lunar base total develop- mentcost	year of opera- tion	operation cost lunar facilities	operation cost LSTS	lunar base total cost
-8	10	125	135	1	242	5,974	6,216
-7	290	1,176	1,466	3	290	4,369	4,659
-6	675	2,528	3,203	6	321	851	1,172
-5	1,060	3,340	4,400	10	356	829	1,185
-4	1,300	3,951	5,251	15	384	794	1,178
-3	1,900	4,097	5,997	20	408	1,027	1,435
-2	2,335	4,649	6,984	25	461	1,528	1,989
-1	1,950	5,011	6,961	30	512	937	1,449
0	1,680	5,210	6,890	total	22,843	70,362	93,705
				ann.av.	571	1,772	2,343

The graphical presentation of the initial investments required versus time are an illustrating example of what it takes to enter a meaningful next phase of lunar development. It should be noted, however, that the investments required in the peak years of 7 B is merely **one percent** of the present military expenditures on this globe. The investments would not be required now, but begin no earlier than ten years from now with the peak after year 2010. By then the military expenditures are expected to come down by more than these amounts.



Figure ES-2: Annual distribution of development cost (non-recurrent cost) of the lunar facilities (lower bar) and the logistics system (upper bar)

There is a major decline of annual cost to be observed after initial beneficial occupancy of the lunar base as seen in figure ES-3. This public financial burden can be reduced by leasing laboratory spaces on the Moon to interested commercial enterprises and also by selling lunar products at the amount of about 100 tons p.a. to the interested companies or persons. If half of the available laboratory spaces could be leased at a rate of 20 M \$ p.a. and half of the available export products can be sold at 1,000 \$/kg, then $250 \times 30 = 7.5 \text{ B} \$ + 1,230,000 \text{ kg} \times 1000 \$/\text{kg} = 1,23 \text{ B} \$$, or a total between 5 and 10 billion dollars is the commercial potential of this particular lunar base concept.

In case the lunar space transportation system or elements of it are employed also in other space missions e.g.planetary exploration, the development burden of the lunar space transportation system for the lunar base will be reduced by 1/3 to 1/2. Additional cost reductions are possible, e.g.by increasing the crew duty-cycle as the lunar base grows and provides more comfortable living conditions.

4





CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:

1. There is no quick and dirty or cheap solution to return to the Moon soon and to accomplish a meaningful activity of lunar exploration to achieve the defined objectives. The construction and operation of a small lunar outpost for a limited time can not be recommended at this time due to its poor cost-effectiveness and high risks involved. Most investments would have to go into an infrastructure that is poorly used.

2. Based on present insights and extending modestly the present state-of-the-art, it is possible to develop technically feasible and attractive concepts of returning to the Moon in order to establish semi-permanent or permanent lunar facilities. This would allow to continue the lunar exploration early in the next century at affordable expenditures and an acceptable risk.

3. The big hurdle of a decision to enter a new phase of lunar development is the sizable up-front investment requiring an average of about 4 billion (1994\$) \$ and peaks of up to 7 billion \$ for a ten year period. This investment can not come

from privat sources, it would have to be made by a group of national governments interested in the exploration and utilization of extraterrestrial resources for the benefit of the present and future generations. 6

4. It appears quite possible that - after an initial phase - the annual burden to the public for maintaining the operation of this type of a lunar base can come down in due course by partially commercializing lunar activities from 2.2 billion \$ p.a. to about one billion dollar which makes this option a very attractive propositon. It would open the door to a development leading to space based solar and/or nuclear energy delivered to the users on Earth and in space.

5. It is recommended to reopen the discussion of returning to the Moon at the time the International Space Station (ISS) is fully operational, presently planned in 2002. After a few years of discussion at the international level an agreement among the participating nations should be possible by 2005. Development could begin by 2006 and beneficial occupancy of an initial lunar base should then be possible by the year 2016. This planning should include the option to continue this line of exploring and utilizing extraterrestrial resources by expeditions to the planet Mars involving human crews.

1. Introduction

The first phase of lunar development ended with the flight of APOLLO 17 to the Moon in December 1972. The primary reason for ending the first phase of lunar development was the Vietnam war, which was requiring all available resources of the United States, 100 billion dollars in the peak year of this engagement! But it was also determined, that - after achieving the political objective of being there first - the relatively poor cost-effectiveness of the APOLLO program in exploring the resources of the Moon was preventing more lunar excursions of this type¹¹.

The seventies of the 20th century saw a space program concentrating on the development of Earth satellites and space transportation systems, among them the partly reusable Space Shuttle. This space vehicle was designed for crewed transportation missions to the low Earth orbit originally with the intention to replace all expendable systems. The unfortunate loss of the CHALLENGER vehicle changed all this, it caused a big gap in the American space program and a severe cut-back of Shuttle launches. This in turn increased the cost per launch greatly. Under these circumstances it was not possible to revive any plans for the immediate continuation of the lunar exploration program.

In the early eighties some interest developed again in returning to the Moon in connection with feasibility studies of Space Solar Power Systems (SSPS). Lunar resources were found to be an attractive means to reduce the cost of constructing solar power plants in GEO^{1,2,13}. Also the US Congress demanded in the mideighties an answer to the question of how the space program should continue. ANational Commission On Space mandated by Congress, made a positive recommendation to return to the Moon among other space programs³. Other studies in those years $\frac{4,5,6,7,9,11}{2}$ supported this recommendation.

The result of these efforts was the recommendation of President Bush in Juli 1989, 20 years after the first landing of men on the Moon, to return to the Moon to stay. How ever, three months later, the Berlin wall came down and the dissolution of the Sowjet Union began leading to the end of the cold war in December 1991. All government supported space programs suffered from this upheavel of the geopolitical scene and most of them were put on the back burner as the consequence of changing priorities^{11,15}. On the other hand commercial space projects in the telecommunication area flourished.

In the mid 90s the European Space Agency expressed an interest to take up lunar exploration after some lunar probes of Japan and the United States were quite successful¹⁴. Thus it is encouragement enough to discuss again the pros and cons of returning to the Moon and establishing a permanent facility on the lunar surface. This planning activity is sponsered also by the International Academy of Astronautics, which re-activated its Subcommittee on Lunar Development¹⁶. Several national and international symposia took place during the last decade to discuss various aspects of robotic and human exploration of the Moon in the future.



7

A great deal of the information presently available has been compiled in a 400 page Lunar Data Base¹⁷, a 200 page summary "Prospects and Blueprints for Future Lunar development" of which is available on the INTERNET: http://vulcain.fb12.tu-berlin.de/ILR/personen/hh_koelle.html

The presently recognized objectives of continuing the exploration and utilization of lunar resources have been summarized as follows^{9,16}:

Table 1-1: Objectives of a Lunar Base

Genuine (primary) objectives of a lunar base:

- 1. Provide a science laboratory in the unique environment of the Moon.
- 2. Improve our knowledge of the Moon and its resources.
- 3. Produce marketable services and space products on the Moon.
- 4. Establish the first extraterrestrial human settlement.
- 5. Contribute to the supply of the Earth with space based energy.
- 6. Provide a focus for the development of space technology.
- 7. Demonstrate the potential growth beyond the Earth.
- 8. Enhance the evolution of the human culture into space.
- 9. Provide a survival shelter in case of a global catastrophe.
- 10. Provide reliable space transportation systems to the Moon.
- 11. Provide an isolated depository for high level wastes in case of need.

Secondary objectives of a lunar base:

(these could also be achieved or supported by other than space programs)

- 1. Improve the understanding and control of Planet Earth.
- 2. Stimulate the development of advanced technologies on Earth.
- 3. Provide opportunity for international cooperation.
- 4. Provide rewarding job opportunies.
- 5. Assist in reducing tensions and conflicts on Earth.
- 6. Provide the infrastructure and experience for global enterprises.
- 7. Provide opportunity for involvement in frontier activities.
- 8. Provide a peaceful outlet for the military-industrial complex.
- 9. Contribute to the national prestige of participating nations.
- 10. Improve our understanding of our solar system.
- 11. Improve our understanding of the universe.

Thus one has to bear in mind, that lunar activities will help to achieve several of the identified objectives listed above. These will change their relative priorities as function of time, depending on the current state of the planet. While a decision to go back to the Moon with péople can not be expected in this decade, it may become an issue shortly after the turn of the century¹⁵.-

Quite a few services and products which may be offered by people working on the Moon have been identified already, such as shown in the following table:

Table 1-2: Services and Products of a Lunar Base

LUNAR SERVICES	LUNAR PRODUCTS
Knowledge derived from science of the Moon Knowledge derived from science from the Moon Knowledge derived from science on the Moon Engineering development services on materials Engineering development services on equipment Launch services for space transportation systems Maintenence & repair of space transportation systems Waste storage services Administrative services Training services for other space projects Tele-education and Tele-Entertainment Health care to special ailments Tourism Space observation and protection of Earth in emergencies	oxygen and liquid oxygen hydrogen technical gases other than oxygen and hydrogen food raw materials feedstock (benefited minerals) construction material nuclear fuels (Helium 3) thermal and electrical power metallic products ceramic products electric materials pharmaceuticals

Now is the time to develop attractive options for a new phase of lunar development so that politicians have a choice of alternatives to select from, if and when a decision is due. It is obvious that the key question is that of transportation of people and supplies to the Moon, because there is no lunar space transportation available at present or in sight. But new space transportation systems have to be matched to program size and objectives, consequently the size and life-cycle of potential lunar bases are important factors determining the overall program. To make this relationship transparent is the primary purpose of this report.

This analysis begins with discussing the ground rules adopted for developing the program structure, limiting the size and logistic requirements of a lunar base. The lunar space transportation system is subsequently selected on these assumptions and described in some detail, to be followed by a cost analysis of the entire program. This concept promises to be one of the better options for the next phase of lunar development.

2. Program Structure

A lunar base with built-in growth potential would be a logical choice to return to the Moon early in the 21st century with the goal to establish a permanent facility on the lunar surface to explore and utilize lunar resources for the benefit of humankind. This example of a lunar base is planned on the basis of a ten year development period, a 30 year operational life-cycle and a lunar crew up to about 120 persons. Its primary objectives are :

(1) exploration of the Moon,

(2) research under lunar environmental conditions on and from the Moon,

(3) pilot production experiments and

(4) laying the foundation for further steps of lunar development such as an expansion towards a lunar settlement.

Groundrules and assumptions:

1. - This initial lunar installation and the space transportation system supporting this lunar enterprise are government owned, e.g. financed by public funds through budget allocations to national space agencies. This assumption excludes financing costs and a general profit. Standard profits are permitted, however, for the contractors delivering the hardware and services required.

2. - The space transportation system serving the lunar installation could also be employed in other space projects requiring flights to the low Earth orbit, to the geostationary orbit or other extraterrestrial destinations. It is assumed that the lunar logistics activities require initially most of the available launch capacity and thus accepts the development burden. This is an assumption leading to conservative cost estimates.

3. - The first control variable for sizing these science oriented lunar facilities is the number of laboratory spaces to be provided for experimenters involved in public and commercial research and development activities on the lunar surface. - This parameter starts out with only few working places in the early years growing to about 40 in the 30th year of the life-cycle in the selected scenario.

4.- The second control variable of operating a lunar base is the length of the duty. cycle per crew member. It impacts heavily the launch rate of the passenger vehicle serving the lunar facility and thus system cost. The average duty cycle for lunar crew members in this science oriented enterprise is planned to be about six months due to its experimental character.

5. - The third control variable for sizing lunar facilities is the mass of lunar products to be produced anually. - Typically, the production begins in the first year of the life-cycle processing lunar soil at a rate of about 10,000 metric tons per year producing lunar oxygen and some raw materials. The production activity becomes more effective during the life-cycle by increasing utilization rates of the lunar soil input.

10

6. - In this scenario it is further assumed that <u>nearly all the oxygen propellants</u> for the lunar landing and launch vehicle (LUBUS) will be produced on the <u>Moon</u>. The return propellants of the HLLV payload stage will use Earth propellants to be onboard at launch for reasons fo crew safety instead using lunar oxygen. Some liquid oxygen must also to be imported during the first years by tanker flights from the Earth to the lunar orbit service station (LUO-SOC), because the production of lunar oxygen will probably not cover all of the requirements initially. This assumption is a compromise, adopted with the intent to increase crew safety, not to overload the production facilities, to keep the operation as simple as possible and keep the cost down.

7.- <u>Hydrogen propellants are delivered from the Earth</u> by the HLLV throughout the life-cycle to lunar orbit for refueling the lunar launch- and landing vehicles(LUBUS) at the lunar orbit space operations center(LUO-SOC). This space based facility is a modified second stage of the HLLV. It is prepared for its mission in LEO, transfered to LUO by its own propulsion, and will be operational before the first lunar crew arrives at the lunar base site.

A preliminary mass model of the lunar base facilities applying the groundrules above, must be derived first to determine the logistic requirements. An iterative matching process will follow until a balance is achieved between the capabilities of the space transportation system, the requirements of the lunar facility and the resources considered available for such an enterprise.

3. Lunar Base size and performance

3.1 Sizing of the lunar base facilities

An existing lunar base simulation model (LUBSIM)¹ was used for deriving relevant development trends versus time for the life-cycle of the lunar facilities. This parametric model calculates the annual growth of the respective facilities for the life-cycle planned as a function of the outputs in terms of products and services desired. This lunar base model is science-oriented with a very small production capacity and is an updated version of an earlier lunar laboratory version (model 3.0 of 1996)²⁰. This simplified concept permits to reduce the number of base elements from 20 (see table 3-4) allowed by the model, by grouping the production oriented elements as well as those comprising the infrastructure into one each.

Thus the simplified mass data presented is shown in table 3-1 in the following categories:

- lunar laboratories and scientific equipment
- habitat including life support system
- production facilities
- infrastructure facilities.

Figure 3-1 is a layout of a typical lunar base observing types of facilities, required distances, but leaves also room for modest growth.





Figure 3-2 illustrates the flow of masses, information and energy between the elements of a typical lunar base, but also indicates where lhuman labor is required.

Table 3-1 lists the theoretical growth rates as projected by the mathematical model on the basis of the relations and assumptions comprising the model. In reality however, these facilities will not grow incrementally in the early years. The base will grow rather in way of a step-function, because entire modules, not fractions of them, must be transported to the Moon. This is particularly the case in the beginning of the acquisition period. The selected model of system acquisition is determined by the capabilities of the transportation system and the available human labor at the base site. A detailed annalysis of this problem is part of the acquisition planning discussed in chapter 5.

The production-oriented facilities on the Moon are considered to be at best <u>pilot</u> <u>plants</u> for various production experiments, such as raw materials, feedstock, and some more complex products such as construction materials converted to components in a mechanical workshop. The lunar <u>oxygen production plant</u> is an exception. This early oxygen plant has to produce enough propellants for the LUBUS flights. If it does not initially, the difference has to be imported from Earth by extra flights.

The <u>consumables</u> produced on the Moon include recycled water, the gases (CO₂) and the biological wastes of the crew, but also the food produced in the biological laboratory (experimental farm) including some oxygen using part of the waste material.- The <u>spare parts</u> listed are either handmade parts in the workshop or reworked parts which have failed in the past.

The defined facilities allow a certain production rate of various products for lunar use and export as a function of their size and mass. The outputs resulting from these production activities are shown in Table 3-2.

Table 3-1: Typical Growth of lunar population and facilities (metric tons) Numbers in () indicate the individual facilities of the basic model summarized as a group.

ve	ar	lunar	total	labora	habitat				
1		science	luttar	torios		pilot	intra-	total	actual
1		créw	crew	and eci		prod.tac	structure	lunar	annual
1		v.a.	p.a.	equin	(17-19)	a equip.	facility	facili-	facility
		1	Fim	(7)	(17-19)	(1-0,9)	equip.	ties	& equip.
	1	2	40	8	100	101	(10-16)		growth
<u> </u>	2	3	44	11	109	101	142		361
	3	4	43	11	139	118	180	. 448	. 87
<u>}</u>	4	4	42	10	142	122	180	. 459	11
<u> </u>	5	5	42	10	146	124	180	467	8
	6		, 44		149	124	180	474	
}	7		44	2/	157	124	180	488	14
	ź		48	31	173	127	181	512	. 24
	0.		50		187	128	183	536	24
<u> </u>	10	9	5,3	41	200	131	186	558	22
┝	10		56	46	214	133	189	580	22
┣	$\frac{11}{12}$	11	58	50	227	134	192	602	22
	12	12	60	55	240	135	. 194	623	21
┝	13	13	63	60	253	136	196	645	22
┝	14	14	65	65	266	136	199	666	21
	15	15	68	70	279	138	201	688	22
	16	16	70	75	294	139	202	709	21
	17	17	72	80	306	139	204	731	22
	18	18	74	85	320	140	207	752	21
	19	19	77	90	334	140	209	774	22
	20	20	79	95	348	141	211	796	22
	21	22	85	105	379	142	217	843	47
2	22	24	88	115	397	143	220	873	20
2	23	26	92	124	418	143	223	900	
2	24	28	96	134	441	143	227	909	
2	5	30	100	144	463	144	22/	940	
2	6	32	104	154	485	144	230	1 010	
2	7	34	108	164	509	145	234	1,018	36
2	8	36	112	174	532	145	23/	1,055	37
2	a	38	115	184	555	145	241	1,092	37
3	ō	40	120	104	<u> </u>	140).	245	1,129	37
SUT	$\frac{1}{n}$	523	2 120		5/9	140	248	1,167	38
		17 4	712			· · · · ·			1,167
	<u>· I _</u>	1/.7	12.3	- 62	308	135	1951	700	39

Table 3-2: Projected average annual outputs of defined lunar base facilities (kW and metric tons per annum)

year	lunar	lunar	lunar	total	products	lunar	total
-	power	produced	produced	lunar	for	oxygen	output
	produced	spares &	consum-	products	export or	produced	of lunar
	(kW)	extensions	mables	for direct	use TBD	for LSTS	facilities
	· · · · · ·			lunar use	•		
1	1,176	22	48	70	. 27	238	335
2	1,593	25	60	86	_ 42	341	468
3	1,677	17	62	79	53	382	514
4	1,729	16	62	78	. 58	397	533
5	1,745	. 16	61	78	60	398	535
6	1,871	20	64	- 84	64	420	568
7	2,000	24	67	90	68	439	597
8	2,116	27	69	96	71	456	623
9	2,220	29	71	100	75	470	645
10	2,324	33	73	106	78	482	666
11	2,424	35	75	. 111	80	494	685
12	2,523	39	77	116	83	504	702
13	2,620	42	79	120	85	513	718
14	2,716	45	80	125	87	522	734
15	2,811	48	82	130	89	530	748
16	2,906	51	83	134	91	537	762
17	3,001	55	84	139	92	544	776
18	3,094	58	86	144	94	551	788
19	3,189	61	87	149	95	557	800
20	3,282	65	88	153	97	563	812
2 1	3,475	81	91	172	92	568	831
22	3,588	80	93	173	97	573	843
23	3,731	88	95	. 183	96	577	856
24	3,873	94	96	190	97	582	869
25	4,018	100	98	198	97	586	882
26	4,163	106	100	206	98	590	895
27	4,309	112	102	214	98	594	907
28	4,457	119	104	222	99	598	919
29	4,607	125	105	230	99	602	931
30	4,820	143	108	251	92	605	948
sum	-	1,776	2,460	4,230	2,460	15,210	21,900
average	2,935	59	82	141	82	507	730

As shown in table 3-1, the initial facilities are extended as required by the projected production rates, partly by imported parts and partly by lunar produced parts. The lunar produced components have to be subtracted from the total mass for extention to obtain the imports required. All complex facilities and equipment will have to be imported, also most of the higher quality food. In general it can be stated that the import rate of supplies per crew member will decline during the life cycle due to increased use of lunar products.

The initial facilities have to be transported to the Moon before or shortly after the arrival of the first crew, they are not included in the following table.

year	production supple- ment materials	spare parts	new facilities and equip.	life suppört & consum- mables	space vehicle parts	total projected imports
1	30	25	0	23		70
2	40	27	79			/3
3	44	23	10	25	0.3	10/
4	45	21	7	26	0.7	
5	45	20		26	1.4	92
6	46	20	12	20	1.4	
7	48	20	20	31	2.1	9/
8	50	20	21	33	2.1	109
9	51	20	18	36	2.4	112
10	52	20	18	38	2.0	112
11	53	20	18	40	3.4	114
12	54	19	17	42	3.4	110
13	55	19	17	44	4 1	11/
14	56	19	17	46	4.1	119
15	57	19	16	48	4.5	120
16	57	19	16	50	5.2	122
17	58	19	16	52	55	125
18	59	19	16	55	5.9	125
19	59	19	16	57	62	120
20	60	19	15	59	6.6	120
21	60	19	34	64	6.9	152
22	61	. 19	20	67	7.2	132
. 23	61	. 19	24	71	7.6	139
24	62	20	24	75	7.9	148
25	62	20	24	79	8.3	150
26	63	20	23	83	8.6	152
27	63	20	23	87	9.0	154
28	64	20	23	91	9.3	155
29	64	20	22	95	9.7	157
30	64	20	35	100	10	172
sumí	1,584	603	608	1.551	150	3 812
average	55	20	20	53	5	127

Table 3-3 : Projected imports required by the operational lunar base on the lunar surface as projected by the model (metric tons p.a.)

Taking the data from the above tables a comparison of the masses produced on the Moon for lunar purposes and the total projected imports is possible. After about ten years of operation more supplies come from lunar sources than from the Earth! 16



Figure 3-3 : Development trends of lunar products for lunar use and the mass of imports to the lunar surface

This frame of reference for the crew size, the mass of the lunar facility, their output and input requirements must be the basis for selecting a suitable space transportation system. This vehicle program, to be discussed in chapter 4, has to be sized and structured with respect to performance and capacities required by the lunar and other space programs. In this case it is assumed that the initial lunar base program would be the driver of the space transportation system under consideration. Generally, in planning a logistic system such as a lunar space transportation system, one has already an idea with respect to the space transportation system assumed to be available, otherwise an iteration process between lunar facility and lunar space transportation system will be unavoidable.

3.2 Acquisition and operating costs of lunar facilities

Non-recurring cost:

The program structure is the basis for estimating program cost, it was developed and presented in the previous chapters. To estimate cost and distribute these over the calender years is the next task to be accomplished.

This cost estimate begins with the <u>non-recurring costs</u> of the program to be carried out during an eight to ten year development and test phase of subsystems and total system compatibility. These costs are primarily the development costs first unit costs and system tests.

no.	Facility designation	develop- ment cost M \$	first unit cost M \$	systém ckěckout cost M \$	total upfront costs M \$
1	strip mine	90	10	.3	103
2	béneficiation facility	180	10	3	193
3	chem.processing facility	900	20	16	936
4	mech.processing facility	480	14	2	496
5	fabrication & assy.shop	180	6	1	187
7	laboratories	900	14	1	915
9	gas processing facility	600	13	1	614
10	propellant storage	180	2	1	183
11	power plant	900	212	6	1,118
13	space port	360	24	2	386
14	central storage	120	11	2	133
. 15	central workshop	90	12	1	103
16	carpool	480	15	1	496
17	control center	900	35	4	970
18	housing facility	1,200	144	16	1 360
. 19	biol.processing facility	840	20	A	1,000 864
sum		8,400	<u></u> 562	62	9 022

Table 3-4: Overview of preliminary estimates of the upfront costs of lunar facilities (1 direct labor-year = 0.2 M 1994 \$)

A distribution of these totals versus time is shown on the next table.

Table 3-5: Summary of non-recurrent cost of lunar base

(million 1994 dollars)

Legend:

(1) Year of development

(2) Initial development cost of lunar facilities prior to initial beneficial occupancy. (3) Cost of first units of lunar facilities and equipment, if manufactured during the years before the beginning of the operational period including system checkout.

(4) Four 3rd stages of the HLLV which -after landing - will remain on the Moon serving as storage containers at 330 \$ each, not included in the model!

(5) Cost of planning activities, systems engineering and training of initial lunar crew members, this is not included in the operational part of the model!

(6) Total lunar base facilities =(6) + (7) + (8)

yéar (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
-8	ļ			10	10
-7	240			50	290
-6	600			75	675
-5	960			100	1060
-4	1200			100	1300
-3	1800			100	1900
-2	1800	75	360	100	2335
-1	1200	200	400	150	1950
0	600	350	500	230	1680
<u>totals</u>	8,400	<u>625</u>	<u>1,260</u>	<u>875</u>	11,200

Recurrent cost of laboratory:

The "recurrent cost" during the operational phase are presented next, first of the lunar facilities and equipment to be followed by the recurrent cost of the space transportation system.

Table 3-6 presents the direct operating costs associated with the lunar facilities proper. This includes the imports such as equipment and consumables. It indicates the estimated level of supporting effort required back on Earth in the areas of sustained engineering for facility extensions and improvements, but also administration, training of lunar crews and their salaries. All this adds up to the operating cost of the LULAB facilities, but does not include transportation cost. Alternatively the LULOX cost are deducted because they have been charged to the space transportation system.

Table 3-6: Direct operating cost of lunar laboratory

(million 1994 \$ p.a.)

Legend:

(1) Operational year.

(2) Cost of the personnel for sustained engineering, training of lunar crews and administration supporting activities on the lunar surface (the largest share of all cost elements!)

(3) Cost of goods imported

(4) Salaries of the lunar crew members including their duty cycles on Earth.

(5 Cost of facility modules, equipment and other imports.

(6) Cost of Earth ground support of science operations on the Moon.

(7 Cost of reimbursed Lulox from LSTS

(8) Total cost of LULAB activities on the Moon during the operational years without and with consideration of reimbursed lulox cost.

(1)	(2)	(3)	. (4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
year	sust.eng	total	crew	science	total	re-	iotal
1	admin.	import	salaries	support	recurrent	imbursed	direct
	crew	goods			luñar base	lulox cost	recurrent
<u> </u>	training				costs	 	costs
	408	44	30	100	582	. 341	242
2	408	.183	35	100	. 726	451	275
3	408	63	33	100	603	313	290
4	408	56		100	595	297	299
5	408	53	32	100	592	285	307
6	408	62	33	100	603	283	321
7	408	78	36	100	622	285	337
8	408	84	38	100	630	286	344
9	408	81	40	100	629	281	348
10	408	83	42	100	633	277	356
11	408	83	+3	100	634	272	362
12	408	83	45	100	637	269	368
13	408	84	47	100	639	265	373
14	408	84	49	100	641	262	379
15	408	85	50	100	643	259	384
16	408	85	52	100	645	256	389
17	408	87	54	100	648	254	395
18	408	87	55	100	650	251	399
19	408	88	57	100	653	249	404
20	408	87	59	100	654	247	408
21	408	125	63	100	697	252	445
22	408	102	66	100	675	242	434
23	408	110	69	100	686	240	447
24	408	111	71	100	690	236	454
25 <u></u>	408	111	74	100	694	232	46
26	408	112	77	100	697	229	468
27	408	113	80	100	700	226	403
28	408	113	83	100	704	223	475
.29	408	114	86	100	708	225	401
30	408	136	91	100	735		<u>+0/</u>
sum	12,240	2,784	1.620	3.000	19 644	7 224	11 641
av	408	93	54	100	655	244	202

3.3 Specific costs of lunar products and services

As a consequence of these investments and activities the lunar base is producing values by offering services, such as laboratory spaces, or products, such as construction material and feedstock. The mass flows and services as projected have been presented in table 3-1 in absolute terms, but not their specific costs. If the overhead costs of the lunar base operation are prorated on the bases of mass flows, human labor and energy consumed over all products and services offered, then we obtain the <u>specific cost of products and services</u>. If we can find a market for some of these, we would be able to reduce the expenditures to be provided by public funds in the beginning of this extraterrestrial human activity accordingly.

The following table presents the respective cost data on the basis that the transportation costs are paid by the public agencies involved and thus arenot prorated over the individual products and services. Thus the specific costs presented are theoretical minimum costs only, since they do not yet take into consideration interest, taxes and profits. In a commercial environment the transportation cost would have to be included. Consequently commercial prices would be higher than shown in the next tables.

		·							
year	LULOX	Lulab	Work-	Habitat	Farm	Control	Power	Export	av.total
	(\$/kg)	(M\$/	shop	(M\$/	pro-	center	plant	goods	lunar
		MY)	(M\$/	MY)	ducts	(M1\$/	(\$/	average	out-put
1			MY)		(\$/kg)	MY)	MWh)	$(\frac{1}{kg})$	(\$/kg)
 	1 1 2 0	21.27	-						
	1,430	36.27	16.32	8.83	5,005	35.15	11,835	2,760	1,565
2	1,324		32.37	11.55	7,244	36.84	13,991	2,806	1,485
	820	27.56	15.30	7.12	4,970	32.09	7,062	1,828	943
4	/4/	24.63	16.42	7.15	5,182	33.06	6,544	1,658	862
	/18	22.59	17.27	7.13	5,255	33.76	6,237	1,570	828
	6/2	20.97	17.70	7.07	5,378	32.58	5,747	1,505	782
	649	19.71	17.79	7.36	5,349	31.56	5,523	1,448	755
8	629	18.34	16.92	7.09	5,284	30.28	5,754	1.381	730
9	598	17.08	16.26	6.72	5,085	29.19	5,365	1,306	695
10	573	16.13	15.75	6.54	4,990	28.23	5,127	1.247	667
	552	15.28	15.26	6.32	4,867	27.34	4.880	1,195	642
12	533	14.58	14.81	6.15	4,772	26.54	4.681	1 150	620
13	516	13.96	14.40	5.98	4,675	25.79	4,494	1,110	601
14	502	13.41	14.01	5.83	4,589	25.10	4.330	1.073	584
15	489	12.92	13.65	5.69	4,506	24.45	4.178	1.040	570
16	477	12.48	1,3.31	5.56	4,430	23.86	4.040	1.011	555
17	. 466	12.10	13.03	_ 5.46	4,370	23,56	3,918	985	542
18	. 456	11.73	12.73	5.33	4,288	22.99	3,789	960	530
19	447	11.41	12.47	5.24	4,233	22.49	3.688	937	520
20	438	11.09	12.17	5.12	4,157	21.98	3,574	915	510
21	444	11.71	12.38	5.58	4,520	21.88	3,872	915	510
22	422	10.71	11.06	4.88	3,982	20.32	3.386	864	487
23	415	10.40	11.02	4.89	4,000	19.87	3.376	815	.177
24	405	9.99	10.69	4.75	3,893	19.20	3 256	822	465
25	396	9.62	10.41	4.61	3,794	18.57	3 148	800	407
26	388	9.28	10.10	4.48	3.698	17 99	3 014	770	400
27	380	8.98	9.83	4.37	3.611	17.45	2 950	750	470
28	373	8.70	9.56	4.25	3.527	16.94	2,859	7.35	435
- 29	366	8.44	9.31	4.15	3.450	16.46	2 775	721	+20
30	369	8,54	10,.92	4.38	3.646	16 29	2 910	717	410
av	521	11.58	13.961	5.51	4,292	23.62	1 204	2.170	410
				The second s	A 1 44 7 44	40,00	7,200	6,44 U	0011

Table 3-7:	Specific direct costs of lunar products and services
excluding	logistic costs, financing and profit
0	Berne cooldy threatening and profit

In general, it is fairly expensive to produce lunar goods and services within the frame of a small lunar base, because the production volume of this science oriented operation is low.

Of particular interest of the items listed in this table are the specific cost of lunar produced oxygen listed in the first column. The life-cycle average price is 521 %/kg which is an equivalent of 2.6 labor-years. This value would have to be entered into the TRASIM model as the minimum price to be paid for using lunar LOX to obtain the total transportation cost including the Lulox refueled on the Moon. Also of special interest is the next column, indicating that a working space in the laboratory research and development facilities could be leased for an *average* of 11.6 M \$ p.a. or 5,8 million \$ per 6 month activity period, not including the roundtrip cost of the research scientist.



Figure 3-4: Trends of specific cost of selected lunar products

1 =all products for lunar use, 2 =exports, 3 =all lunar products including Lulox

The other limiting case is an operation where the lunar laboratory operation will be charged with the non-recurrent and recurrent cost of the lunar space transportation system. In this case the total space transportation cost are a burden to be distributed over all lunar products and services thus increasing their specific costs. Not yet included are those charges connected with a fully commercial operation such as financing cost and profit,however.

Multiplying the specific cost of lunar products and services with the annual amounts (mass, labor years, kWh) yields the annual "sales" to be realized in terms of million (1990) \$, if they are to cover the cost of the operation. The lunar laboratory would have - under these assumptions - the following sales potential:

22

$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	by ir e
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	ir e
turevehiclesservicesbas17434197249635211745120106694613973131096515354952971010450634594285111125023469628311125515387982851113753142899286111455414399828111152542441097277111605444511962721016654547129526910173547481394265101805494914942621018655150159325910192554511692256101985565217912541020455953189025110209560541989249102155635520892471022056556	e
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	<u>م نمب م</u>
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
18 90 251 10 209 560 54 19 89 249 10 215 563 55 20 89 247 10 220 565 56	
19 89 249 10 215 563 55 20 89 247 10 220 565 56	
20 89 247 10 220 565 56	{
	{
21 84 252 10 255 600 56	
22 84 242 10 255 590 60	{
23 81 240 10 268 598 63	
24 79 236 9 277 602 64	{
25 78 232 9 286 605 65	{
26 76 229 9 294 609 65	
27 75 226 9 302 612 66	
28 73 223 9 310 615 67	<u> </u>
29 72 220 9 318 619 67	
30 66 223 11 338 639 76	
sum 2,593 7,591 322 6,113 17,590 1,630	
average 86 253 11 204 586 55	{

Table 3-8: Projected total annual sales potential (million \$ p.a.) with total transportation cost charged to the lunar operator

4. The lunar space transportation system

4.1 System definition

The governing factor of the concept, acquisition process and operation of the lunar base specified above, is the payload capability and launch rate of the lunar space transportation system (LSTS) to be employed. It determines the size and the growth rate of the lunar base. Logistics cost is the major cost item of the entire life-cycle system cost. Generally, pre-fabricated modules with large dimensions and masses transported to the Moon are preferred, because they lead to reduced requirements of expensive human labor on the Moon. On the other hand, if the flight frequency is less than four flights p.a. then the operational flexibility would suffer. Furthermore it must be assured that enough reserve payload capability for unforseen emergencies will be available^{10,20}.

The logistic support system for the lunar base selected in this case study is a near state-of-the-art <u>fully reusable space transportation sytem</u>, using high energy chemical propellants and available subsystems from the Shuttle and other existing programs^{9,10,20}. It is expected to offer an initial operational capability by about the year 2016 after a nine to ten year development and flight-test period. It also offers considerable growth potential for other Earth orbital, lunar and planetary programs. Aside from spaceports on the Earth and the Moon, the *lunar space transportation system* (LSTS) conceived is comprised of three elements :

(1) A three stage heavy lift launch vehicle (HLLV) for passenger and cargo transportation between the Earth spaceport and a space operations center in lunar orbit, or direct flights to the lunar surface respectively,

(2) a space operation center (LUO-SOČ) in a low lunar orbit (100 km), being used during standard operations for the transfer of passengers and cargo payloads, but also as propellant storage and maintenance facility, and

(3) a lunar bus (LUBUS) for local transportation of passengers and cargo between the lunar spaceport and the LUO-SOC.

4.2 The heavy lift launch vehicle (HLLV)^{10,20}

The HLLV has a launch mass of 6,000 tons, allowing a payload capability of **110** metric tons (t) to lunar orbit and of about **50** t on a direct flight to the lunar surface using in this application its third stage to land the cargo. This payload capability is the average performance during the entire life cycle. It would be somewhat lower in the early years and grow during the life-cycle resulting from regular product improvement efforts, but the payload capability is kept constant throughout the life-cycle of the lunar base to keep the model simple. This assumption does not change greatly the overall life-cycle performance.

24

Figure 4-1:

Longitudinal cross-section of the NEPTUNE -2015 HEAVY LIFT LAUNCH VEHICLE

Technical University Berlin



This three stage heavy lift launch vehicle, based on the NEPTUN concept shown in the next picture, has been developed by the Aerospace Institute of the Technical University of Berlin during the last two decades for an employment in a multi-mission global space program^{4,9,10,20}

Among other applications, it can either transport cargo, passengers (or in a mix passengers with some cargo) to the lunar orbit. The dry mass of the payload stage is 47 metric tons and the net mass is 52 t. The return flights with a 50 t passenger or cargo module (= 102 t) require a mass ratio of 1.30, thus a gross mass of 132 t including 30 t of return propellants which it brings along from the Earth in its early lunar logistics job. Substracting these from the 110 t nominal payload result in an effective payload delivered to the lunar orbit of 80 tons for both the passenger and the cargo version of this launch vehicle, aside of the return requirements. - The three stage NEPTUNE dimensions are 40 meters wide and 72 m high.

The HLLV passenger version carries a 50 ton crew cabin including 40 passengers. It is attached to the 3rd stage and is capable of returning to the Earth from the LUO-SOC without refueling. With a 50 t module, a 30 t propellant capacity for the return flight and about 12 t of hydrogen for the LUBUS a total of 92 t are required, which leaves 18 t of equipment delivered to support the lunar SOC, or additional hydrogen to compensate for vaporisation losses of the SOC. This excess of payload capability can also be considered as a design and/or performance reserve.

Figure 4-2:

Horizontal cross section of the three stages of the NEPTUNE -2015 heavy lift launch vehicle



Cargo vehicles can either return empty to the Earth or with a cargo of lunar products or equipment up to 50 t. In addition, the 3rd stage carries also the hydrogen required for the continuing flight of the LUBUS roundtrip between LUO and lunar base as a standard operational procedure in this analysis. The HLLV cargo version would thus have a capability to carry a 60 t cargo module, a 3 t payload container, 30 t of return propellants and 17 t liquid hydrogen propellants for LUBUS operation, adding up to 110 t nominal HLLV payload capability.

The payload plattform must be compatible with the LUBUS which has a platform with a diameter of about 7 m. Additional payload containers can be placed between the engines of the thirs stage if required

Several direct flights of the HLLV 3rd stage to Earth will be needed during the early acquisition phase of the lunar base to transport the initial large facility modules amounting to about 400 tons to the lunar base site before or shortly after the arrival of the first crew. These flights will be in addition to the regular schedule considering only the supply and crew rotation demands. The third stage would have to undergo the following modifications for this purpose :

- enlargement of the propellant capacity by about 25% (from 215 to 270 t),
- change of the heat shields (no aerodynamic braking required),
- addition of a landing gear.

The mass and performance characteristics of this direct lunar landing stage would look approximately as follows:

Velocity requirement = 5,900 m/s, exchaust velocity 4,500 m/s, mass ratio = 3.70.Initial mass in LEO365 tusable propellants266 tcut-off mass on the Moon99 tstage mass53 tresiduals and reserves8 tnet payload on the Moon45 t

The empty stage would remain on the Moon and be available for storage of liquids and gases. Also the 5 to 8 t of residual propellants and gases after landing and components would be available for other use. The production cost including modifications of these stages which are on the order of 330 million \$/unit would have to be included in the cost balance of the lunar facilities to obtain a complete picture. A few flights will be scheduled in the year before the first crew arrives on the Moon with the most critical large facilities, such as habitats, power plants and oxygen plant. These have to be at the lunar base site, checked-out and in operable condition to allow beneficial occupancy when the first crew arrives.

4.3 The lunar orbit service center

The lunar orbit operations center (LUO-SOC) has an empty mass of about 250 t and it is a modified second stage of the HLLV²⁰. It transports itself during the first operational year in an extra flight to the lunar orbit, after modifications, refueling and checkout have been completed in low Earth orbit. Two secondary refueling flights to low Earth orbit (LEO) are required by the HLLV (this is a total of 3!) to make this transfer of the LUO-SOC facility into lunar orbit (using its own propulsion system) feasible. These additional flights are calculated automatically by the program as secondary missions in the first operational year. Some propellants remain onboard of the SOC after arrival in lunar orbit if completely fueled in LEO before departure. These propellants are needed for suplying the initial LUBUS flights due to a limited LULOX production capability on the Moon in the early years. This space facility is scheduled to be activated in lunar orbit, before the first lunar crew arrives. Under standard operational conditions, the LUO-SOC has a maintenance crew of 3-6 astronauts depending on the traffic. An average crew duty cycle of six months is assumed resulting in additional secondary missions.



Figure 4-3: Space Operations Center(SOC) derived from the second stage of the NEPTUNE HLLV

Mass model:

The transfer of the LUO-SOC from the low Earth orbit to lunar orbit requires a velocity increment of 4,165 m/s, with an effective exhaust velocity of c = 4,500 m/s this results in a mass ratio of r = 2.523. The LUO-SOC with a dry mass of 250 t arrived in LEO with 300 t residual propellants to be modified for its lunar orbit mission. After refueling 2 x 300 t in LEO its take-off mass is 250 + 900 = 1,150 t. The required mass ratio of 2.523 leads to a SOC mass at arrival in LUO of 1,150 : 2.523 = 456 t or 250 t hardware, some 26 t unusable residuals and about 180 t of propellants for later use by the LUBUS.

28

4.4 The lunar launch- and landing vehicle (LUBUS)

Figure 4-4: The lunar launch and landings vehicle -LUBUS



The lunar launch- and landing space vehicle is a single stage vehicle. It is modified third stage of the heavy lift launch vehicle with a 7 meter loading plattform ontop and other payload locations at the bottom. Using a charateristic velocity requirement for a single flight between the lunar orbit and the lunar spaceport of 2,000 m/s and an exchaust velocity of 4,500 m/s, the resulting minimum mass ratio becomes 1.56. These assumptions lead to the following massand performance characteristics on which the lunar landing- and launch vehicle (LUBUS) has to be designed. The masses specified are then used for estimating the additional development and manufacturing costs.

LUBUS Passenger Flights:

DOWN LEG of the LUBUS from LI	JO-SOC
empty stage	20 t
crew cabin with crew	25 t (40 passengers for 1 br flight time)
hydrogen for ascent	7 t
stage at cut-off	52 t
usable propellants required	$30t(5tLH_2 + 25tLulox)$
take-off mass in LUO	82 t

ASCENT of the LUS to LUO	
empty stage mass	20 t
cabin with crew	25 t (max.capacity 40 persons for 1 hr)
Lulox for down leg	25 t
cut-off mass	70 t
usable propellants required	$40 t (7 t LH_2 + 33 t Lulox)$
Take-off mass on the Moon	110 t
LUBUS Cargo flights:	
DOWN LEG from LUO-SOC	
empty stage mass	20 t
cargo incl.packaging	63 t
hydrogen for ascent	10 t
cut-off mass on the Moon	93 t
usable propellants required	$52 t (7 t \dot{L} H_2 + 45 t Lylox)$
Take-off mass in LUO	145 t
ASCENT of Cargo-LUBUS	
empty stage mass	20 t
Lulox for down-leg	45 t
return cargo	50 t
cut-off mass	<u>115 t</u>
usable propellants required	$64 t (9 t LH_2 + 55 t Lulox)$
Take-off mass on the Moon	<u>179 t</u>

<u>Mass-balance HLLV passenger flights</u> with max. 40 Persons: 50 t crew cabin + 30 t return propellants + 12 t hydrogen (without losses) = 92 t, propellant reserves or additional supplies 18 t. Total nominal life-cycle average HLLV payload capability = 110 tons delivered to LUO.

<u>Mass-balance of HLLV cargo-flights</u> : 30 t return propellants + 16 t + 1 t losses hydrogen for LUBUS, + **60 t Cargo** + **3 t container** = 110 t total payload delivered to LUO, used as *nominal* payload capability for this scenario.

Lunar LOX-requirements at the lunar spaceport: Passenger flights : 25 + 33 + 2 losses = 60 t per flight Cargo flights: 55 + 45 = 90 t per flight

It has to be noted that the LUBUS propellant tanks have to be sized allowing the refueling of both propellants for the entire roundtrip. All hydrogen is fueled in lunar orbit, all oxygen is fueled on the Moon! This explains the relatively large dry mass of this vehicle.

30

4.5 Space Transportation System performance

Table 4-1: Typical flight schedule for supporting the lunar base

(passenger flight = 40 persons, cargo flights = 60 t, one-way = 50 t + empty stage) *) five flights tests, **) 2+2 Lubus delivered partly fueled to LUO,# tanker flights

Y	no and	no.of	ovtra	tatal	1 (1: - 1-4-	1	<u> </u>		
E	capa-	regular	cargo	totar	1 tingnts	total	Lulox	Lulox	Lox
Ā	city of	cargo	flights	cana	LEO		regra	pro-	brought
R	pass.	flights	init	city	fact		}	duced	trom
1	flights	0	fácil.	rard	nron	flighte		}	Earth
				rqru.	prop.	ngills	1		
0	0	0	0	0	5^{*} + 1	0.46			
1	1	2	3	120+150	$2^{**}+2$	8+2	240	220	0
2	2	2	2	120+120	2**)	8	480	230	280
3	2	2	3	50+120		7	400	340	100
4	2	2	2	120+120		6	400	380	200
5	2	2		86		4	400	400	
6	2	2		95			300	400	_
7	3	2		106			300	420	
8	3	2		100			300	440	
9	3	2		102		5	360	450	
10	3			111	·		360	470	
11		2		110		5	360	480	
12				112		5	360	490	
13	3			113		5	360	500	
14	3			115		5	360	510	
15	3	2		115		5	360	520	
16		- 2		110		5	360	520	
17		- 2		118		6	420	530	
18		- 2		119		6	420	540	
19	4	2		120		6	420	550	
20	4	$\frac{2}{2}$	<u></u>	121		6	420	550	
21	1	- 2		122		6	420	560	
22	4	- 2		144		6	420	560	
23				132		6	420	570]
23		- 2 .]		138		6	480	570	
24	5	<u> </u>		139		7	480	580	
20	5			141		7	480	580	
20	<u> </u>			143		7	480	580	
20				144		7	480	590	
20	- 6	2		146		8	540	590	
29	6			161		8	540	600	
30	6	2		142		8	540	600	
sum	110	60	10	3,900	4+9	186*)	12,060	15,000	580
av	7.33	2		130				500	

*) including 6 development flights, some 18 secondary flights have to be added Matching annual launch rates with a first approximation of the requirements of the lunar base leads to the payload capacities and propellant requirements listed in table 4-1. The table shows that the system performance is greatly determined by the demands for crew rotation. With 2,170 labor-years on the Moon and an average duty cycle of 6 months the capacity of the passenger flights must offer 4,340 seats, or 4,340: 40 = 108.5 passenger rountrip missions.

The operational performance of the HLLV and the LUBUS in terms of vehicle inventory, number of annual flights scheduled, number of flights per vehicle in the inventory and turn-around time available between flights are presented in the table 4-2.

$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	J Y	HLLV	no.	tum-	no fi	Lukur			i
A RtoryHLLVtimepericl vehiclethread torythread torythread toryaround timep.a.per vehicle1111.33211.315735228.6844.328914436.51692.2462421.5535.42021.8452901.3735.42021.8452901.3735.42031.8452901.3935.42031.8452901.31035.42031.8452901.31135.42031.8452901.31235.42031.8452901.31335.42031.8452901.31435.42031.8452901.31535.42031.8452901.316.36.51692.2462411.52036.51692.2462411.52136.51692.2462411.52036.51692.24 <td< td=""><td>E</td><td>inven-</td><td>flights</td><td>around</td><td>n a ner</td><td>invon</td><td>no.</td><td>turn-</td><td>no.fl.</td></td<>	E	inven-	flights	around	n a ner	invon	no.	turn-	no.fl.
R1111.33211.315735228.6844.328914436.51692.2462421.5535.42021.8452901.3635.42021.8452901.3735.42031.8452901.3835.42031.8452901.3935.42031.8452901.3935.42031.8452901.31035.42031.8452901.31135.42031.8452901.31235.42031.8452901.31335.42031.8452901.31435.42031.8452901.31535.42031.8452901.31636.51692.2462411.52036.51692.2462411.52136.51692.2462411.52236.51692.2<	A	tory	HLLV	time	vehicle	tom	lingnis	around	p.a.per
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	R				Veniere	lory	Lubus	time	vehicle
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	1	1	11.3	32	113				
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	2	2	8.6	84	4.3		3	73	5
4 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 242 1.5 5 3 5.4 202 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 6 3 5.4 202 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 7 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 9 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 10 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 11 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 12 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 13 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 14 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 15 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 16 <td>3</td> <td>3</td> <td>7.5</td> <td>145</td> <td>2.5</td> <td>2</td> <td>0</td> <td>91</td> <td>4</td>	3	3	7.5	145	2.5	2	0	91	4
5 3 5.4 202 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 6 3 5.4 202 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 7 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 8 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 9 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 10 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 11 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 12 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 13 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 14 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 15 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 15 <td>4</td> <td>3</td> <td>6.5</td> <td>169</td> <td>22</td> <td>4</td> <td>4</td> <td>2/2</td> <td>1.3</td>	4	3	6.5	169	22	4	4	2/2	1.3
6 3 5.4 202 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 7 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 8 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 9 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 10 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 11 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 12 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 13 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 14 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 15 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 16 .3 6.5 169 2.2	5	3	5.4	202	1.8	4	5	242	1.5
7 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 8 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 9 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 10 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 11 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 11 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 12 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 13 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 14 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 15 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 16 .3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 18<	6	3	5.4	202	1.8	4	5	. 290	1.3
8 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 9 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 10 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 11 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 12 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 13 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 14 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 15 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 16 .3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 18 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 20	7	3	5.4	203	1.8	4	5	290	1.3
935.42031.8452901.31035.42031.8452901.31135.42031.8452901.31235.42031.8452901.31335.42031.8452901.31435.42031.8452901.31535.42031.8452901.31636.51692.2462411.51736.51692.2462411.51836.51692.2462411.52036.51692.2462411.52136.51692.2462411.52236.51692.2462411.52337.51452.5472071.82437.51452.5472071.82527.5963.8472071.82627.5963.8472071.82527.5963.8472071.82627.5963.8<	8	3	5.4	203	1.8		5	290	1.3
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	9	3	5.4	203	1.8	4		290	1.3
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	10	3	5.4	203	1.8	4	5	290	1.3
1235.42031.8452901.31335.42031.8452901.31435.42031.8452901.31535.42031.8452901.31636.51692.2462411.51736.51692.2462411.51836.51692.2462411.51836.51692.2462411.52036.51692.2462411.52136.51692.2462411.52236.51692.2462411.52136.51692.2462411.52236.51692.2462411.52337.51452.5472071.82437.51452.5472071.82527.5963.8472071.82627.5963.8472071.82828.6844.3381362.73028.6844.3	11	3	5.4	203	1.8	4	5	290	1.3
13 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 14 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 15 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 16 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 17 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 18 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 19 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 20 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 21 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 22 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 23 3 7.5 145 2.5 4 7 207 1.8 2	12	3	5.4	203	1.8	4		290	1.3
143 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 15 3 5.4 203 1.8 4 5 290 1.3 16 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 17 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 18 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 19 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 20 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 20 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 20 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 21 -3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 22 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 21 -3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 22 3 6.5 169 2.2 4 6 241 1.5 23 3 7.5 145 2.5 4 7 207 1.8 24 3 7.5 96 3.8 4 7 207 1.8 25 2 7.5 96 3.8 4 7 207 1.8 <td< td=""><td>13</td><td>3</td><td>5.4</td><td>203</td><td>1.8</td><td>4</td><td>5</td><td>290</td><td>1.3</td></td<>	13	3	5.4	203	1.8	4	5	290	1.3
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	14	3	5.4	203	1.8	4	5	290	1.3
1636.51692.2462411.51736.51692.2462411.51836.51692.2462411.51936.51692.2462411.52036.51692.2462411.52036.51692.2462411.52136.51692.2462411.52236.51692.2462411.52337.51452.5472071.82437.51452.5472071.82527.5963.8472071.82627.5963.8472071.82727.5963.8472071.82828.6844.3381362.73028.6844.3381362.73028.6844.3381362.73028.6844.3381362.73028.6844.3381362.73028.66.7153	15	3	5.4	203	1.8			290	1,3
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $. 16		6.5	169	2.2	4		290	1.3
1836.51692.2462411.51936.51692.2462411.52036.51692.2462411.52136.51692.2462411.52236.51692.2462411.52337.51452.5472071.82437.51452.5472071.82527.5963.8472071.82627.5963.8472071.82727.5963.8472071.82828.6844.3381362.73028.6844.3381362.73028.6844.3381362.73028.6844.3381362.73028.6844.3381362.73028.6844.3381362.73028.6844.3381362.73028.6844.3381362.73028.6844.33.7<	17	3	6.5	169	2.2	4		241	1.5
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	18	3	6.5	169	2.2	4	6	241	1.5
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $. 19	3	. 6.5	169	2.2	4	6	241	1.5
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	20	3	6.5	169	2.2	4	6	241	1.5
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	21	3	6.5	169	2.2	4		241	1.5
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	22	3	6.5	169	2.2	4	6	241	1.5
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	23	3	7.5	145	2.5	4	7	207	1.5
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	24	3	7,5	145	2.5	4		207	1.0
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	25	. 2	7.5	96	3.8	4		207	1.0
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	26	2	7.5	96	3.8	4	7	207	1.0
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	27	2	7.5	96	3.8	4	7	207	1.0
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	28	2	8.6	84	4.3	4	8	181	2.0
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	29	2	8.6	84	4.3	3		136	2.0
sum - 202 - 85 110 180 - 53 av 2.6 6.7 153 2.8 3.7 6 230 1.8	30	2	8.6	84	4.3	3	8	136	2.7
av 2.6 6.7 153 2.8 3.7 6 230 18	sum	•	202	•	85	110	180		52
	av	2.6	6.7	153	2.8	3.7	6	230	1.8

Table 4-2: Operational performance of space vehicles

The demands for cargo transportation are smaller than those for passenger transportation with the exception of the first few years. With the heavy delivery schedule of facilities plus the additional Earth propellants needed for the return flights in the early years, a fairly high launch rate results, which might be difficult 32

difficult to attain. But it it quite clear, that only the actual performance during the development phase and the actual rate of progress will determine how fast the acquisition process can be realized. Thus, the flight numbers indicated for year "0" might in the worst case situation, they might have to be distributed over two years. This requires a detailed analysis of a type shown in chapter 5.

As pointed out already, the actual number of vehicles available in the inventory is larger than shown, because the prototype vehicle and the pre-production vehicle are available in the early years in addition and will reduce the annual number of flights. On the other hand it must be noted, that every few years a vehicle will be taken off the flight line for the purpose of overhaul and upgrading. The demands on a particular vehicle with respect to launch frequency are very modest due to the assumption that four vehicles have to be available during the operation. This is a very great growth potential for higher launch rates and cost reduction going along with this.

4.6 Acquisition and operating cost of space transportation system

Non-recurring cost:

The program structure of the space transportation system is the basis for estimating program cost, it was developed and presented in the previous chapter. To estimate cost and distribute these over the calender years is the next task to be accomplished.

This cost estimate begins with the <u>non-recurring costs</u> of the program to be carried out during an eight to ten year development and test phase, before the operational phase can be initiated. These costs are primarily the development costs and first unit costs derived by cost estimating relationships developed using relevant data on past experience during the last decades and entered into the TRASIM code^{2,10}. In case pre-production of vehicles or modules are required due to the anticipated schedules prior to the first operational year, these are estimated at the level of first unit costs.

This cost estimate of the up-front costs (= non recurring costs) is followed by an estimate of the <u>recurrent cost of the logistic system</u> during its operational phase. Knowing the vehicle flights required, it is possible to derive at preliminary cost estimates for the various elements of the space transportation system. This estimate was done with the help of the TRASIM code which has been used frequently in the past with great success.

The following comments will help to understand the calculation procedure used for deriving the non-recurrent costs listed in the specified columns of table 4-3 : Legend:

(1) Development cost the heavy lift launch vehicle (HLLV) and lunar lander (LUBUS), including prototype, ground facilities and flight testing, but excluding crew cabins and payload containers.

(2) Cost of development of crew modules and payload containers for HLLV and LUBUS including prototypes and flight tests.

(3) One pre-production unit - in addition to the prototypes - of all elements of the space transportation system (other than the SOC) as back-up vehicles in case of mishaps. - This has to be accounted for separately as this is not included in the standard estimate procedure!

(4) Development cost of the space operation center (LUO-SOC) on the basis of a modification of the second stage of the HLLV. The production of the first complete unit will be listed not under development but under production cost. (5) Total cost of the logistic system R&D phase, items (1) thru (4)

vear	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
-8	125				125
-7	1,100	31		45	1 176
-6	1,766	700		62	2 528
-5	2,230	1,032		78	3 340
-4	2,532	1,331	··		3 951
-3	2,544	1,465		88	4 097
-2	2,263	1,358	900	78	4,007
-1	1,802	1,097	1.500	62	4 461
0	1,315	770	2,180	45	4 310
totals	15,677	7,784	4,580	546	28,587

Table 4-3: Non-recurrent cost of space transportation system (million 1994 dollars)

Recurrent cost of space transportation system :

The LSTS is comprised of the two vehicles HLLV and LUBUS plus the LUO-SOC their costs are somewhat more difficult to determine. A total of about 200 HLLV flights comprise this 30 year program. These vehicle costs are estimated with the TRASIM model of the Aerospace Institute of the TUBerlin (1990)¹⁰. They are presented in tables 4-4 and 4-5 using the following explanations of the individual columns:

Legend :

(1) Operational year of the life-cycle

(2) Cost of sustained engineering & product improvement during the operation of HLLV and LUBUS. (3) Production cost for both vehicles and LUO-SOC with full cost of a unit listed in the year of delivery, excluding one HLLV which was already considered as a preproduction unit under development costs, but including the production cost of the LUO-SOC.

(4) Operational cost for the individual vehicle flights, including LUO-SOC operations, but excluding Lulox cost

(5) Sum of columns (2)+(3)+(4).

(6) annual cost of Lulox originating on the Moon but to be charged to the transportation system (7) total recurring cost of space transportation system

(8) Direct cost per HLLV flight with passengers from Earth to LUO and back, but excluding frontend and lulox costs.

(9) Direct cost per HLLV flight with cargo from Earth to LUO and back, but excluding front-end and lulox costs.

(10) Direct cost per LUBUS flight with passengers from LUO to LUS and back LUO excluding front-end and lulox costs.

(11) Direct cost per LUBUS flight with cargo from LUO to LUS and back LUO excluding front-end and lulox costs.

(12) Direct cost per passenger foundtrip mission Earth spaceport to lunar spaceport.

(13) Direct cost per cargo trip one way Earth spaceport to lunar spaceport and empty return.

(14) Specific cost 1000 \$ per passenger rountrip (Earth-Moon) including Lulox cost at 525 \$/kg

(15) Specific cost of cargo \$/kg (Earth-Moon) including Lulox cost at 525 \$/kg

Table A

1 a Die 4-4	: Overview of	i sustained er	igineeri	ng, product	ion operatio	ne
and total	cost during th	e operational	Inhacò	(m:11:	ore s	113
(1)	and a second sec	e operaciona.	i phase	(million 19	94 5)	

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
year	sustained	production	opera-	total	ге-	total
1	engng.	cost	tions	cost	imbursed	recurring
<u> </u>	cost		cost	w.o.lulox	lulox cost	cost
	166	6031	936	7,133	341	7,474
2	166	3522	599	4,287	451	4,738
	166	3406	483	4,055	313	4,369
-1	166	276	414	857	297	1,153
	166	68	348	582	285	868
<u> </u>	166	59	343	568	283	851
	166	93	339	598	285	883
<u> </u>	166	55	335	556	286	843
<u> </u>	166	81	331	579	281	860
10	166	58	328	552	277	829
11	166	496	325	988	272	1,260
	166	55	322		269	812
13	166	75	320	561	265	826
14	166	48	318	533	262	795
15	166	52	316	535	259	794
16	. 166	51	377	595	256	851
1/	166	106	. 375	647	254	901
18	166	50	372	589	251	840
. 19	166	54	370	590	249	839
20	166	245	368	780	247	1,027
21	166	481	365	1,013	252	1,264
22	166	48	364	578	242	820
23	166	102	422	. 690	240	930
24	166	211	420	798	236	1,034
25	166	711	418	1,296	2.32	1.528
26	166	76	416	658	229	888
27	166	220	414	800	226	1.026
28	166	220	471	857	223	1.080
29	166	190	468	734	220	955
30	166	81	466	714	223	937
sum	4,998	17,130	10,271	34,269	7.324	42.275
average	167	. 571	342	1,142	244	1,409

Table 4-5: Overview of space vehicle direct operations cost of primary flights without Lulox cost (8) thru (13) and specific transportation costs of cargo and passenger transportation during the operational phase with Lulox cost (14 and 15) - (million 1994 \$, M \$ p.seat and \$/kg respectively)

(1)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)
year	dir.cost	dir.cost	dir.cost	dir.cost	tot.dir.	tot. dir.	cost per	\$/kg
	p.pass.	p.cargo	p.pass.	p.cargo	cost	cost	passen-	careo
	flight	flight	flight	flight	pass.fl.	cargo fl.	ger seat	direct
	HLLV	HLLV	Lubus	Lubuș	ÉS-LUS	ES-LUS	ES-LUS	ES-LUS
	164.6	159.3	12.6	9.5	177	169	6.367	2 544
	149.2	144.2	11.4	8.4	161	153	4.299	1.760
3	144.8	. 139.9	11.6	8.7	156	149	4.180	1,713
4	144.7	139.9	. 11.3	8.4	156	148	4.164	1,708
5	144.4	139.7	11.2	8.4	156	148	4,154	1 706
6	142.9	138.3	11.1	8.4	154	147	4,110	1 688
	141.7	137.1	11.0	8.3	153	145	4.074	1 674
8	140.8	136.3	11.0	8.3	152	145	4.046	1,671
9	139.3	134.8	10.9	8.2	150	143	4.004	1,646
10	138.5	134.1	10.9	8.2	149	142	3 981	1,040
11	137.6	133.4	10.7	8.2	148	142	3 953	1,637
12	136.9	132.7	10.7	8.2	148	141	3 932	1,620
13	136.2	132.0	10.7	8.2	147	140	3 912	1,620
14	135.7	131.5	10.6	8.1	146	140	2 905	1,011
15	135.1	131.0	10.6	8.1	146	120	2 000	1,605
16	133.5	129.4	10.5	8.0	144	127	3.000	1,599
17	133.9	129.7	10.4	8.0	144	137	3.032	1,5/9
18	131.8	127.7	10.4	8.0	142	130	2 794	1,583
19	126.2	122.1	10.4	8.0	137	130	3.704	1,559
20	129.7	125.7	10.4	8.0	140	130	3.034	1,495
21	129.3	125.3	10.3	7.9	140	133	3.727	1,535
22	127.3	123.3	10.3	7.9	138	131	3.711	1,531
23	123.5	119.6	10.2	7.9	134	128	3.637	1,509
24	125.7	121.8	10.1	7.8	136	120	3.554	1,464
25	114.2	110.3	10.1	7.8	124	110	3.012	1,489
26	112.8	109.0	10.1	7.8	124	110	3.305	1,358
27	112.5	108.7	10.1	7.8	123	117	3.266	1,342
28	109.5	105.6	10.0	7.0	120	117	3.258	1,338
29	109.2	105.3	10.0	77	110	113	3.173	1,303
30	108.9	105.1	9.6	7 2	119	113	3.165	1,299
average	128.1	132.4	10.5	82	120	112	3.146	1,291
			10.0/	0.2	139	141	3.706	1,688

The production cost of the individual vehicle (column 3, table 4-4) is paid fully in the year of delivery in this model. Any financing costs will have to be part of this cost. Consequently the distribution of annual expenditures is irregular as can be seen in column 5 of table 4-6. This is listing for selected years the annual expenditures required for the lunar logistic system employed in this model. In reality the peaks will be lower since it is common practice to pay one third of the cost when the vehicle is ordered, one third in the second year and the last third upon delivery. Useful for general comparisons are the cost per mission (figure 4-1)because they do not specify exactly the payload. But more precise are the <u>specific transportation</u> <u>cost trends</u> of the columns (14) and (15) are presented in figure 4-2 because they do include the payload delivered. This calculation is based on the assumption that the vehicles will fly as often as their design life will allow. In this conservative scenario, however, this is not the case, they are not used fully. The number of vehicles is determined by the minimum number of vehicles required on the flight-line. When they are taken-off, they will have a residual value because the production costs are prorated over the number of flights designed into the vehicles. Thus, the specific costs given below are considered to be the lower limit, they could be about 10 % higher. In case the nominal payload capacity of the vehicles is not fully used, the cost go up proportionally.



Figure 4-5: Mission cost for passengers without lulox cost -upper curve, and for cargo without lulox cost -lower curve, (million 1994 \$)

In calculating the cost per roundtrip, the production cost are prorated over the number of maximum flights the vehicle is designed for if fully used during its lifetime. This scenario will not fully use the number of allowed flights, thus they will have a residual value when taken off the flight line.



Figure 4-6: Specific recurrent transportation cost for passengers 1,000 (1994) \$/seat and for cargo transportation \$/kg to the Moon taking into account the cost of government furnished lunar propellants at 521 \$/kg.

5. The acquisition of the lunar laboratory

The development phase is part of the acquisition phase of the lunar laboratory. After reaching a decision to proceed with the program, which can be very time consuming as experienced with the International Space Station(ISS), we know from previous programs that the development phase is the most critical one with respect to technical feasibility, operational feasibility and financial acceptability.

Consequently, it is necessary to develop detailed plans for the total system particularly for the development and transition period. This requires at this point a breakdown of the program activities and milestones on a quarterly basis from the time of program initiation up to the first flight test to develop a better understanding of the development sequence and time periods involved.

Table 5-1: Initial Lunar Base Program Development Schedule

year x = year of first development flights

year & Qarter	activity or flight mission
x-10	Program planning activities are initiated
x-9	program definition & specifications completed, memorandum
	of understanding (MOU) signed by partners
x-8	program approval, industrial competition for contracts
x-//2nd Qtr	begin of vehicle and facility developments
x-7/3rd Qtr	design begin of crew capsule for HLLV, crew cabin of LUBUS,
	and of lunar facilities; construction begin of launch facilities
x-6/1st &	design reviews of HLLV elements, the lunar power plant
2nd Qtr	module and the lunar LOX production module
x-5/2nd Qtr	design reviews of crew cabin for LUBUS and the HLLV system
x-4 / 1st Qtr	design review of LUBUS stage, lunar habitat module
x-4/2nd Qtr	design review of lunar workshop module,
	lunar spaceport & mobility equipment
x-4/3rd Qtr	design review and approval of LUBUS system
x-4/4th Qtr	design review and approval of SOC modification
x-3/1st Qtr	design review of lunar base control system
x-3/2nd Qtr	begin of component testing of new elements
x-2/3rd Qtr	begin of prototype production of all vehicles
	and lunar facility modules
x-2/4th Qtr	begin of subsystem testing
x-1/1st Qtr	begin of assembly of prototype vehicles
x-1/2nd Qtr	begin of ground testing of prototype vehicles
x-1/3rd Qtr	completion of launch facilities
x-1/4th Qtr	acceptance test of prototype HLLV and LUBUS

A precise list of hardware requirements and a flight schedule must be available before high quality cost estimates of the vehicles can be derived. This leads to a manifest for the flights planned with emphasis on the first five years.

Table 5-2: Detailed quarterly flightplan for the acquisition period

* = HLLV + LUBUS flights, all other HLLV flights without LUBUS Legend:

Year 0 used for initial flight tests, year 1 is the year of beneficial occupancy (1) Period of time (quarter)

(2) Flight tests of the HLLV prototype vehicle

(3) Flight tests of the HLLV + LUBUS prototype vehicles

(4) Direct flights of the 3-stage HLLV to LUS, 3rd stage one-way (50t module)

(5) 2 stage HLLV flights to LEO in support of LUO-SOC acquisition (300 t LEO)

(6) HLLV Earth-Lox Tanker flights to LUO-SOC for replennishing (100t)

(7) Delivery of partly fueled LUBUS units to LUO (20 + 50 t Lox)

(8) Special facility delivery flights with LUBUS roundtrip (60 L facility modules)

(9) Standard operational cargo flights (60 t equipment and supplies)

(10) Standard operational passenger flights (40 passengers + luggage)

(11) Total number of HLLV flights in this quarter

(12) Total number of LUBUS flights in this quarter

(1)	(2)	(3)*	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)*	(8)*	(9)*	(10)*	(11)	(12)*
0/I	1					-				1	0
0/II	1	1			1			- <u> </u>		2	1
0/III		1		1			+		+	2	1
0/IV		1	1.		1		1		+	1	1
1/I			2	1		-	1	1	1	3	1
1/II			1	1		1	1	1	+	3	1
1/Ⅲ						1	1	1	1	2	2
1/IV					1		1	1	1	2	2
2/I						1	1	1	=	3	3
2/1						1	1	+	1	2	2
2/III							1	1	+	2	2
2/IV							1	1	1	1	1
3/-1-			1					1	1	2	
3/II-					1			1	1	2	1
3/Ш					1			1		1	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$
3/IV					1	1	1	1	1	2	1
4				1_		1	1	4	2	6	6
5					T	1	1	2	3	5	5
SUM	(2)	(3)	4	3	2	4	2	12	9	42	31

Including the test flights during the last year of the development period ("0"), 42 HLLV and 31 LUBUS vehicle flights are on the regular schedule for the first five operational years!

After defining the number and type of flights, the balance between masses required at the individual destinations must be compared with the payload capabilities of the scheduled vehicle flights.

Table 5-3: Mass balances

Total mass delivered from the Earth during first five years	
4 direct flights with complete modules 50t each	200 +
12 regular cargo flights with facilities, equip, & supplies 60 t each	200 t
total delivered from the earth including reserves	920 t
	<u>920 (</u>
Mass required during the first five years	
At the end of the third year the following masses must be on the	Moon
Lunar facilities and equipment as estimated by the model	465 t
imported spares	105 t
supplies	300 t
total mass imported from the Earth	870 t
Lox propellant balance first 5 years	
Lox left in SOC at arrival in LUO	180 t
Lox left in 4 LUBUS flights brought to the LUO-SOC	200 t
2 tanker flights to LUO with 100t each	200 t
LULOX produced by lunar facilities during first 5 years	1 753 t
Total Lox available in LUO or on LUS	2.333 t
	<u></u>
<u>LULOX requirements :</u>	
12 cargo flights with facilities from LUO to LUS,90 t each*)	1.800 F
9 regular passenger flights LUO to LUS, 60 t each	450 t
sub total	2 250 t
") only in case all of the return payload capability of 50 t is used	

<u>Balance: Available 2,333- required 2,250 = 83 t reserve</u> plus cargo return propěllants not used

Most of this reserve will probably have to cover vaporization losses ! This balance shows that the planned typical flight schedule for the logistic support of a lunar base with the desired attributes and performance is about what must be expected. Now it is possible to specify the missions and payloads for each of the flights scheduled during the flight operations in the early years of the acquisition as shown in the next table. At this point in time it is sufficient to use a quarterly schedule which has to be replaced later with a monthly schedule to make sure that the needs of the initial lunar crew are satisfied.

quarter	vehicles	missions
0/1	HLLV	1st test flight with 2 stages to 1 FO for recovery
0/11	HLLV	test flight with 3 stages to LUO and return
	HLLV+Lubus	test flight to LEO for Lubus flight test + rendevoirz
0/111	HLLV+Lubus	back-up vehicle for systems test
	HLLV	2 stage flight with SOC module to LEO
0/IV	HLLV+Lubus	systems verification flight test to 1110 + return
1/1	HLLV	2 stage flight to LEO with propellants for SOC
	HLLV	3 stage dir. flight to LUS with 50t fac, module
	HLLV	3 stage dir. flight to LUS with 50t fac, module
1/11	HLLV	2 stage flight to LEO with propellants for SOC
	HLLV	3stage dir.flight to LUS with 50 t fac.module
1 / 111	HLLV+Lubus	3stage transfer flight of Lubus to LUO +50 tlox
1/11	HLLV+Lubus	3stage transfer flight of Lubus to LUO +50 t lox
1 / 11 /	HLLV+Lubus	3stage flight to LUO/LUS with 60 t supplies
1/10	HLLV+Lubus	3stage cargo flight to LUS with 60 t equipment
2/1	HLLV+Lubus	3stage passenger flight to LUO/LUS & return
2/1	HLLV+Lubus	- dage flight to LUO/LUS with 60 t facility module
	HLLV+Lubus	3stage flight to LUO/LUS with 60 t supplies
2/11	HLLV+Lubus	3stage transfer flight of Lubus to LUO +50 tlox
2/11	FILLV + Lubus	3stage passenger flight to LUO/LUS & return
2/111	HLLV+Lubus	3stage transfer flight of Lubus to LUO +50 tlox
2/111	HLLV+Lubus	3stage flight to LUO/LUS with 60 t facility module
2/11/	HLLV +Lubus	3stage flight to LUO/LUS with 60 t supplies
2/1	HLLV+Lubus	3stage passenger flight to LUO/LUS & return
5/1	HLLV+Lubus	3stage flight to LUO/LUS with 60 tsupplies
2/11	HLLV	3stage dir.flight to LUS with 50 t fac.module
5/11	JALLY	3stage tanker flight to LUO with 100 t lox
3/11	T HLL V +Lubus	3stage passenger flight to LUO/LUS & return
3/11/	FILLV+Lubus	3stage flight to LUO/LUS with 60 t facility module
3/11	HLLV HLLV	3stage tanker flight to LUO with 85 tlox
1/1	HLLV+Lubus	3stage passenger flight to LUO/LUS & return
7/1	HLLV+Lubus	3stage flight to LUO/LUS with 60 t facility module
1/11	TILLV +Lubus	3stage flight to LUO/LUS with 60 t supplies
4/11	HLLV+Lubus	3stage flight to LUO/LUS with 60t supplies
4/111	HLLV+Lubus	3stage passenger flight to LUO/LUS & return
+/111	HLLV+Lubus	3stage flight to LUO/LUS with 60t supplies
5/1	I HLLV+Lubus	3stage passenger flight to LUO/LUS & return
	HLLV+Lubus	3stage flight to LUO/LUS with 70t supplies
	HLLV+Lubus	3stage passenger flight to LUO/LUS & return
<u> /////</u>	HLLV-Lubus	3stage flight to LUO/LUS with 70t supplies
9/ IV	HLLV+Lubus	3stage passenger flight to LUO/LUS & return
	HLLV+Lubus	3stage passenger flight to LUO/LUS & return

Table 5=4: Typical manifest for HLLV and LUBUS flights

The chapters above supply the basic information to estimate the acquisition and operating cost of the lunar facilities and the space transportation system supporting the lunar base logistically.

6. Cost Summary and System Effectiveness

A typical lunar base with its facilities has been structured and analysed with respect to mass flows, energy and human labor requirements in sufficient detail to derive at fairly realistic cost estimates for the up-front and operational costs. These have to be combined with the attributes and performance of the entire lunar base system including the logistics of it during the entire life cycle, which was assumed to be 10 years for development and 30 years of operation.

6.1 Program Cost summary

To obtain the total cost of the program one has to estimate the two major elements of the system seperately, the space transportation system and the *lunar* base. This has been done in the respective chapters above. In case the space transportation operator reimburses the lunar base operator for the Lulox used at an agreed price level, then the total amount paid to the lunar base operator for the Lulox used during the life-cycle must be deducted from the total base cost! In addition 1,500 M\$ of 1,644 M \$ for the LUO-SOC production have been shifted as follows to avoid undesirable peaks: from year 1: 900 M\$ to year 0; 550 M\$ to year -1 and 50 M \$ to year -2. This is more realistic, these costs are now where they occur. With these changes the cost summary looks as follows:.

COST ELEMENT	Life cycle M \$	Mena	% of
	141 0	p.a.	
Development & test lunar facilities-10y	11,200	1,120	12.3
Dev.& test of space transp.system-10y	28,587	2,859	31.4
Subtotal Development & Test - 10 y	39,787	3,979	43.7
sustained engineering LSTS- 30 y	4,998	167	5.5
Production space transportation system	17,130	571	18.8
Operation space transportation system	17,595	587	19.3
Operation lunar facilities	11,640	388	12.8
Subtotal operations - 30 years LC	51,363	1,712	56.3
Total Lunar Laboratory System - 40 y	91,150	2,280	100

Table 6-1 : Lunar Base life-cycle cost summary (million 1994 \$) with 10 + 30 year life-cycle

The next graph illustrates the rate of change in the required development funds and the peak during the end of the development phase.



Figure 6-1 : Annual distribution of expenditures for development and testing of the elements comprising the lunar base project

(space transportation system on top and lunar facilities at the bottom)

veat	Lunar	ISTC	4-4-1	1	T		
ycui	facility	L315	total	year	Lunar	LSTS	total
1	lacinty	cost	system	1	facility	cost _	system
<u> </u>	cost p.a.	p.a.	cost p.a.		cost p.a.	p.a.	cost p.a.
<u> </u>	0	0	0	22	368	812	1,180
	10	125	135	23	373	826	1,199
3	290	1,176	1,466	24	379	795	1,174
4	675	2,528	3,203	25	384	794	1 178
5	1,060	3,340	4,400	26	389	851	1 240
6	1,300	3,951	5,251	27	395	901	1,240
7	1,900	4,097	5,997	28	399	840	1 220
8	2,335	4,649	6.984	29	104	830	1,237
9	1,950	5.011	6.961	30	408	1 037	1,245
10	1,680	5.210	6 890	31	145	1,027	1,435
11	242	5 974	6 216	27		1,204	1,709
12	275	4 738	5.012	32	+33	820	1,253
13	290	4 260	5,013	33	44/	930	1,377
14	200	4,309	+,639	<u> </u>	454	1,034	1,488
15	277	1,153	1,452	35	461	1,528	1,989
10	307	868	1,175	36	-468	888	1,356
16	321	851	1,172	37	475	1,026	1,501
17	337	883	1,220	38	481	1.080	1.561
	344	843	1,187	39	487	955	1 442
19	348	860	1,208	40	512	937	1 449
20	356	829	1,185	sum	22,843	70.862	93 705
21	362	1,260	1.622	40 v.av.	571	1 772	2 2 4 2

Table 6-3: Annual total system/program cost (M 1994 S, 1 labor year = 0.2 M S)

A graphical illustration of these trends brings out clearly that there is a peak demand of resources during the development phase and a sharp drop after the initial beneficial occupancy of the lunar base. Irregularities indicate new hardware buys.



Figure 6-2: Lunar Laboratory Sytem total cost trend (upper curve) with lunar faciliy costs (lower curve) and space transportation costs (middel curve)

The simulation of the system life-cycle has resulted in additional insights into the behavior of this system. The growth of the facility mass with time and the specific output per mass facility as a function of time are depicted in figure 6-3. It appears that the system as a production entity gets less efficient with time. The reasons for this is that the production rates are deliberatly kept down and the strong increase of the laboratory and scientific equipment mass in the second half of the life-cycle does not contribute to the mass output. It was also found that in this specific scenario lunar oxygen is cheaper than imported oxygen from Earth as shown in figure 6-4.

If hardware products (spares and construction material) and lunar produced food are considered, then we have to wait several years to arrive at the break-even point. On the other hand the average cost - including raw materials and lunar oxygen - is in a range clearly below the specific transportation cost. Also the pleasures from growing part of their own végetables will enhance the weil being of the lunar crew. A more detailed analysis is thus recommended for a specific scenario and life-cycle.







Figure 6-4: Trend of specific cost of transportation of imports (upper curve) and production cost of lunar oxygen(lower curve)

46

6.2 Program cost- effectiveness

Program objectives, program structure and program cost are the elements required to determine program effectiveness. This effectiveness is the most important criteria for a go/no-go decision. The factors depicting the annual trend give a more complete insight into the behaviour of the system analysed than cumulative values. The primary parameters selected for this overview presented in Tab. 6 -4 are the following:

(1) Systems life-cycle cost per lunar labor-year (M 1994 S/labor-year)

(2) Systems life-cycle cost per lunar science year (M 1994 \$/ laboratory workplace)

(3) Systems life-cycle cost per unit mass produced on the Moon (M 1994 \$ t)

(4) Lunar facility mass per lunar crew member (t/ person)

(5) Imports per lunar crew member (t p.a./ person)

(6) Lunar manufactured products per lunar crew member (t p.a./person)

(7) Share of import mass per unit mass of lunar products

(8) Mass of lunar products per unit mass of lunar facilities (t p.a./t) (9) Installed many results (t p.a./t)

(9) Installed power per unit mass of lunar products (kW/ t p.a.)

Table 6-4: Development trends of primary system-effectivness ratios

year	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
1	155	3,108	18.577	9.0	1.83	8 36	0.22	0.02	2.51
2	114	1,671	10.711	10.2	3.80	10.64	0.22	1.04	3,51
3	108	1,165	9.096	10.7	2 26	11.04	0.30	1.04	3.40
4	35	363	2.727	11 1	2 29	12.69	0.19	1.12	3.26
5	28	235	2,197	113	2.27	12.00	0.17	1.14	3.25
6	27	195	2.063	11.0	2.12	12.73	0.17	1.13	3.26
?	25	174	2.042	10.7	2.20	12.91	0.17	1.10	3.29
. 8	24	148	1,906	10.7	2.2)	12.44	0.10	1.1/	3.35
9	23	134	1.872	10.5	2 11	12.40	0.18	1.10	3.40
10	21	119	1.780	10.4	2.04	11.89	0.17	1.10	2.44
11	28	147	2.369	10.4	2.00	11.80	0.17	1,15	2.549
12	20	98	1.680	10.4	1.95	11.00	0.17	1 12	3.54
13	19	92	1.669	10.2	1.89	11 40	0.17	1.13	3,39
14	18	84	1.600	10.2	1.85	11.29	0.17	1.12	3.05
15	17	79	1.574	10.1	1.79	11.00	0.10	1.10	3.70
16	18	78	1.626	10.1	1.76	10.89	0.10	1.07	2.70
17	18	76	1.671	10.1	1.74	10.07	0.10	1.07	3.02
18	17	69	1.572	10.1	1.70	10.65	0,10	1.00	3.07
19	16	65	1.553	10.0	1.66	10.00	0.10	1.03	2.93
20	18	72	1.767	10.0	1.63	10.37	0.16	1.03	3.98
21	20	78	2.055	9.9	1.79	9.78	0.10		4.04
22	14	52	1.487	9.9	1.58	9.57	0.10	0.99	4.10
23	15	53	1.608	90	1.59	9 30	0.10	0.97	4.20
24	16	53	1.712	9.8	1 54	9.05	0.17	0.74	4.50
25	20	66	2.255	9.8	1.50	8.82	0.17	0.92	4.40
26	13	42	1.516	9.7	1 46	8.60	0.17	0.90	4.20
27	14	44	1.653	9.7	1 13	840	0.17	0.00	
28	14	43	1.699	9.7	1 38	8 20	0.17	0.00	4.75
29	13	38	1.549	9,7	1 37	8.09	$-\frac{0.17}{0.17}$	0.04	4.65
30	12	36	1.528	9,7	1.44	70	0.12	0.02	4.95
						1.2	0.101	0.011	5.Uõ I

The following table describes the life-cycle performance of the lunar laboratory program by listing the most important state-variables and parameters. These data are suitable to compare options for lunar development. While this summary is neither a complete picture nor a very accurate data base, it is the best presently available and awaits further improvements.

Table 6-5: Life-cycle performance and cost summary of a Lunar Base program - (cost in million 1994 dollars ; 1 labor year = 0.2 million \$)

lunar facilities available at the end of the life-cycle	1,167 t
total lunar products available	21,900 t
LC luna: propellants used for space vehicles	15,210 t
LC lunar products for infrastructure extension or export	2,460 t
LC lunar products used directly by the lunar laboratory	4,230 t
total lunar labor-years available	2,170 y
laboratory years available for lease	523 y
cost of planning and program integration activities	875 MS
Initial development cost of lunar facilities	8.400 M \$
production cost of initial facilities	1.885 M \$
lunar facilities acquisition	11.200 M \$
cost of engineering support during expansion of lunar facilities, administration and training	12,240 M 5
salaries of lunar crew	1.620 M \$
cost of imported spares, equipment & consumables	2.784 M \$
cost of funar science support (100 million \$ p.a.)	3,000 M \$
ternibursed lunar produced oxygen	- 7,324 M\$
operations cost of lunar facilities	11,640 M \$
subtotal lunar laboratory acquisition and operation	22,840 M \$
cost of space vehicle development and engineering	24,007 M \$
pre-production of backup vehicles	4,580 M \$
total space transportation system development cost	28,587M \$
product improvement during operation	4,998 M 5
total production cost	i7,130 M \$
total operations cost	17,595 M \$
total recurring cost lunar space transportation system	39,723 M\$
subtotal logistic system acquisition and operation	68,310 MS
total LULAB system cost för 60 yr life-cycle	. 91,150 M S
annual average during the 9 dev. + 50 oper. = 60 year life-cycle	2.279 M S
<u>cost per lunar labor-year</u>	42.0 M S/v

7. Study Results and Conclusions

In the process of analysing and evaluating alternative plans for the next phase of lunar development, several options have been investigated by means of detailed simulation models. These have allowed an annual estimate of the most important system parameters and the system behavior as a whole. The governing consideration in this analysis can be formulated as follows:

The primary objective in the process of the evolution of the human species is to develop the access to extraterrestrial resources, beginning with the Moon, to learn to live and work in space, use the resources available and last not least, to establish the first extraterrestrial human settlement.

A representative lunar base development, modestly extending the present stateof-the-art, has been analysed in some detail to obtain a general overview of the costs and benefits involved. A typical scenario would be a go-ahead in the year 2005, a development phase from 2006 to 2015 and beneficial occupancy in 2016 with a 30 year operational life-cyle. A science- and technical development oriented lunar base would start out with a crew of about 40 people. The lunar population would reach *z* level of about 50 after ten years, 80 after 20 years and 120 after 30 years. Various services are offered to users on Earth and pilot plants would experiment with the manufacturing of lunar products. It could be downsized at any time in the operational phase if the expected benefits are not achieved, or upgraded if new developments require such action.

The development and operation of a modest lunar base could be achieved in 40 years for less than 100 billion (1994) US dollars, if planned carefully and realized by a competent international organization. The peak demands of public funds would reach about 7 billion dollars annually at the end of the development phase which is the equivalent of one percent of global military expenditures at the end of the 20th century. The average annual cost over the 40 year life-cycle would be less than 2.5 billion dollar, which is merely one percent of the present annual military expenditures of the United States. Form this viewpoint it appears economically feasible.

Based on the present insights the following conclusions seem to be justified:

1. There is no quick, dirty and cheap solution to return to the Moon soon and proceed with a meaningful activity of lunar exploration within the defined objectives of the long range lunar development program.

2. Based on present or near-term state-of-the-art, it is possible to develop concepts of returning to the Moon establishing semi-permanent or permanent lunar facilities and thus to continue the lunar exploration early in the next century at affordable expenditures and an acceptable risk.

3. The big hurdle of a decision to enter a new phase of lunar development appears to be the up-front investment requiring an average of up to 5 billion (1993/94) \$ for a 10 year period. This investment can not come from privat sources, it would have to be made by a group of governments interested in the exploration and utilization of extraterrestrial resources for the benefit of the present and future generations.

4. It appears quite possible that - after an initial phase - the burden to the public for maintaining the operation of this type of a lunar laboratory can come down to less than a billion dollar per year which makes this option a very attractive propositon.

REFERENCES

1. H.H.Koelle, B.Johenning: "Lunar Base Simulation", Aerospace Institute, Technical University Berlin, Report ILR Mitt.115(1982), Nov 1,1982, 205 pp.

2. H.H.Koelle:"A Permanent Lunar Base - Alternatives and Choices",

SPACE POLICY, vol.2, no.1, Feb.1986, pp.52-59

3. The Report of the National Commission on Space: "Pioneering the Space Frontier", Bantam Books, May 1986

4. H.H.Koelle, U.Apel et al.: "Comparison of Alternative Strategies of

Return-to-the Moon- CASTOR", J.British Interplanetary Society, vol.39, no.6, June 1986, pp.243-255

5. S.K.Ride: "Leadership and America's Future in Space", A Report to the NASA Administrator, August 1987

6. B.B.Roberts:"Mission Analysis and Phased Development of a Lunar Base", ACTA ASTRONAUTICA, vol.17, no.7, pp 739-750, 1988

7. Office of Exploration, NASA, Annual Report to the Administrator:"Beyond Earth's Boundaries", 1988

8. J.C.Seltzer:"A Lunar Bibliography", JSC 22873(Rev.A), Nov.1989

9. IAA:"The Case for an International Lunar Base", ACTA ASTRONAUTICA, vol.17,no.5,May 1988, p.463-490, Final version as a special report of the International Academy of Astronautics, Paris, 1990, 64 pp.

10. H.H.Koelle.B.Johenning:"A Multi-Vehicle Space Carrier Fleet Cost Model for a Multi-Mission Scenario", Aerospace Institute, Technical University Berlin, Report ILR Mitt.240(1990), May 1,1990, 99 pp.

11. Thomas P.Stafford and the Synthesis Group: "America At The Threshold", The White House, USA, May 3,1991

12. European Space Agency:"Mission to the Moon", ESA SP-1150, June 1992

13.H.H.Koelle, B.Johenning: "Cost Estimates for Lunar Products and their Respective Commercial Prices", ACTA ASTRONAUTICA, vol.32, no.3, pp.227-237, March1994

14. European Space Agency:"Towards a World Strategy for the Exploration and Utilisation of Our Natural Satellite, International Lunar Workshop, May/June 1994

15. H.H.Koelle: "Political, Economical and Technical Forces Controlling Lunar Development", Preprint IAA-95-IAA.3.1.02, 46th IAF Congress, Oct.3,1995, Oslo 16. AIAA Subcommittee on Lunar Development: "Lunar Base Quarterly", nos.1 through 4,1994,1995,1996 and nos. 1 and 2,1997

17. IAA Subcommittee on Lunar Development (H.H.Koelle, Chairman): "Prospects and Blueprints for Lunar Development", 200 pages, January 1997 INTRERNET: http://vulcain.fb12.TU-berlin.de/ILR/personen/hh_koelle.html,

18. H.H.Koelle: "The Lunar Laboratory -An attractive Option for the next Phase of Lunar Development", Model 3.0 - March 1996, ILR Mitt.303, March 15, 1996, 27p. 19. Peter Eckart: "Parametric Model of a Lunar Base for Mass and Cost Estimates", Herbert Utz Verlag, München, 1996, 234 p.

20. H.H.Koelle: "Comparison of Future Launch Vehicle Concepts for Cargo Transportation to Low Earth Orbit and Lunar Destinations", ILR Mitt.314(1997), 39 pp.